BYLAWS

SUGARLOAF MOUNTAIN OWNER'S ASSOCIATION, INC.

ARTICLE 1 NAME AND LOCATION

The name of the corporation is Sugarloaf Mountain Owners' Association, Inc. (referred to as the "Association"). The principal office of the Association shall be located initially at Datil, New Mexico at such specific location as the Board of Directors may designate, from time to time, until such time as the Board of Directors designates such other location as they may deem appropriate for such purposes.

ARTICLE 2 DEFINITIONS

"Assessments" means all regular and special assessments levied by the Association upon Lots pursuant to the terms of the Declaration.

"Association" means and refers to Sugarloaf Mountain Owner's Association, Inc., and its successors and assigns.

"Board" means the Board of Directors of the Association.

"Declarant" means Sugarloaf Mountain LLC, a New Mexico limited liability company, and the successors and assigns of its rights and powers hereunder.

"Declaration" means the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions for Sugarloaf Mountain Subdivision, filed of record in the office of the County Clerk of Catron County, New Mexico on August 24, 1998, 1998, at Book 97, Page 845 - 855. The Declaration is incorporated by reference into these Bylaws, as if the Declaration were set forth in full herein.

"Default Rate" means a rate of interest equal to the lesser of eighteen percent (18%) per annum or the maximum rate allowed by law.

"Director" means a member of the Board.

"Lot" means any numbered lot as shown on the Subdivision plat for the Property.

"Member" or "Members" means a member or members of the Association, including the Declarant so long as the Declarant is the Owner of one or more Lots.

"Occupant" shall mean:

- (a) each tenant who resides on the Property and the invitees, licensees, guests, and members of the immediate family of each tenant who resides on the Property; and,
- (b) each Owner who resides on the Property and the invitees, licensees, guests and members of the immediate family of each Owner who resides on the Property.

"Owner" means a record holder of beneficial or equitable title and legal title if legal title has merged with the beneficial or equitable title, to the fee simple interest in any Lot. Owner shall not include: (a) a Person having an interest in a Lot merely as security for the performance of an obligation; or (b) a tenant of a Lot.

"Person" means a natural person or a corporation, limited liability company, partnership, joint venture, trust, or any other legal entity.

"Phase" means a portion of the Subdivision indicated as a "phase" on the plat for the Subdivision.

"Property" means the real property comprising the Subdivision.

"Subdivision" means the subdivision of the Property, as shown on the plat for Sugarloaf Mountain Subdivision, filed of record in the office of the County Clerk of Catron County, New Mexico, on August 24, 1998, as Plat Slide B-196, including the roads within the Subdivision and any common areas shown on the Subdivision plat.

ARTICLE 3 MEMBERS

Section 3.1: Purpose of the Association. The purpose for which the Association is organized is to provide for the ownership and maintenance of the roads serving the Subdivision, for ownership and maintenance of the community parcels as shown by the Plat of the Subdivision, to enforce the Declaration, to engage in any lawful activities which are determined by the Association to be in the best interest of the Association, the Members, or the Subdivision, and to promote the health, safety, and welfare of the Members.

Section 3.2: Membership and Voting Rights in the Association. Every Owner shall be a Member. By acceptance of a deed to a Lot or by becoming an Owner of a Lot, whether by execution and delivery of a real estate contract therefor with the Declarant or otherwise, a Person, and the Person's heirs, personal representatives, successors, transferees and assigns, shall automatically be and become a Member. Membership shall be appurtenant to and may not be separated from ownership of any Lot. Only Owners shall be qualified to be Members. The Association shall have one class of Members. Each Member shall be entitled to one vote for each Lot owned by that Member with respect to each issue upon which a Member is entitled to vote; Provided, however, in the event that more than one Person is the Owner of any Lot, the vote of such Owners shall be exercised as a majority of the co-owners among themselves determine. In no event shall more than one vote be cast with respect to any Lot concerning any particular issue being voted upon by the Members, nor may the vote attributable to any Lot be split or fractionalized. In the

event a majority of co-owners of a particular Lot are unable to timely agree upon the manner to vote on a particular issue, their right to vote on that issue shall be deemed to have been waived. A Member shall not be entitled to vote upon any matter coming up for vote by the Members while: (a) there remains unpaid any Assessment due from the Member to the Association with respect to any Lot owned by the Member, or (b) there exists an uncured violation of the Restrictions with respect to any Lot owned by the Member, and written notice of such violation has been mailed to the Member by the Association or the Declarant along with a request or demand by the Association or the Declarant that the Member cure or correct the violation, or (c) the Member has failed to cure a default pursuant to a real estate contract held by the Declarant concerning a Lot owned by the Member, after having been given written notice of such default according to the terms of the real estate contract.

Section 3.3: Annual Meetings. Annual meetings of Members for the election of directors to the Board and for such other business as may be stated in the notice of the meeting, or as may properly come before the meeting, shall be held at such places, within or without the State of New Mexico, and at such times and dates, as the Board may designate. If the Board fails to so determine the time, date and place of the meeting, the annual meeting of Members shall be held at the principal office of the corporation on the second Saturday of January at 2:00 p.m. each year, beginning with 1999.

Section 3.4: Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Members may be called at any time by the President, by a majority of the Board, or by a Member or group of Members in good standing owning at least 100 Lots.

Section 3.5: Notice of Meetings. Written notice stating the place, date and time of the meeting and the general nature of the business to be considered shall be mailed to each Member entitled to vote at the Member's address as it appears on the records of the Association, not less than ten (10) days nor more than fifty (50) days before the meeting.

Section 3.6: Quorum. The presence at a meeting of Members, in person or by proxy, constituting at least thirty percent (30%) of the Members entitled to vote shall constitute a quorum of the Members. If the required quorum is not present at a particular meeting, another meeting of the Members may be called and the required quorum of Members at the subsequent meeting shall be one half of the required quorum at the preceding meeting which did not have a quorum of Members present. Notice of the subsequent meeting of the Members need not be mailed to the Members if the place, date and hour of the subsequent meeting are announced at the adjourned meeting which did not have a quorum of members present.

Section 3.7: Proxies. At all meetings of Members, each Member may vote in person or by proxy. All proxies shall be in writing and filed with the Secretary. Every proxy shall be revocable and shall automatically cease upon transfer by the Member of the Lot for which the proxy was given.

att fortered has him, markey aft second lade, militaries and to sufficient the

ARTICLE 4 DIRECTORS

Section 4.1: Number. The number of Directors shall be no fewer than one and no more than five individuals. The Directors shall be elected at the annual meeting of Members and each Director shall be elected to serve until Board member's successor shall be elected and is qualified to serve on the Board. Unless otherwise prohibited by law, Directors may also serve as officers of the Association.

Section 4.2: Meetings. Meetings of the Board may be held within or without the state of New Mexico, and upon not less than three (3) days written or verbal notice. Notice requirement may be waived by any Director that did not receive notice. A majority of Directors shall constitute a quorum. Any action required or permitted so be taken at any meeting of the Board may be taken without a meeting if a written consent thereto is signed by all Directors, and such written consent is filed with the minutes of the proceedings of the Board.

Section 4.3: Increase in Number. The number of Directors may be increased by amendment of these Bylaws by the affirmative vote of a majority of the Directors or by the affirmative vote of the majority of the Members at the annual meeting or at a special meeting called for that purpose, and by like vote the additional directors may be chosen at such meeting to hold office until the next annual election or until their successors are elected and qualified, whichever occurs first.

Section 4.4: Compensation. No Director shall receive compensation for any service the Director may render as such to the Association. Any Director may be reimbursed for their actual expenses incurred in the performance of duties as Director.

Section 4.5: Removal. Any Director may be removed from the Board, with or without cause, by a vote of the Members majority of the Members voting on the issue, in person or by proxy, at a meeting held for that purpose. In the event of death, resignation or removal of a Director, the Director's successor shall be selected by the remaining Directors and shall serve for the remainder of the term of the former Director and until the Director's successor shall be duly chosen and qualified for office.

Section 4.6: Resignation. Any Director may resign at any time. Such resignation shall be made in writing, and shall take effect at the time specified therein, and if no time be specified, at the time of its receipt by the President or Secretary. The acceptance of a resignation shall not be necessary to make the resignation effective.

<u>Section 4.7:</u> Vacancies. If the office of any Director becomes vacant, the remaining Directors in office, though less than a quorum, may by a majority vote appoint any qualified person to fill such vacancy, with such appointed Director to hold office for the remainder of the term of the former Director and until the Director's successor shall be duly chosen and qualified for office.

Section 4.8: Powers of the Board. The Board shall be responsible for the supervision, control and direction of the affairs of the Association, shall execute the policies and decisions of the Members, shall actively carry out the Association's purposes, and shall have discretion in the

disbursement of funds. The Directors shall in all cases act as a board, and they may adopt such rules and regulations for the conduct of their meetings and the management of the Association as they may deem proper, provided such rules and/or regulations are not inconsistent with the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Association, the Declaration, or the laws of the State of New Mexico. In connection with the exercise of its powers, the Board shall have the power to:

- Section 4.8.1: Exercise for the Association all powers, duties and authority vested or delegated to this Association.
- Section 4.8.2: Employ a manager, an independent contractor, or such other employees as the Board deems necessary, and to prescribe their duties.
- <u>Section 4.8.3:</u> Enforce the provisions of the Declaration for the Subdivision; provided, however, that nothing herein shall be construed as prohibiting an individual Lot Owner from pursuing whatever individual independent enforcement actions such Lot Owner may have.
- Section 4.9: Duties of the Board. It shall be the duty of the Board to:
- Section 4.9.1: Cause to be kept a complete record of all its acts and Association affairs and to present a statement thereof to the Members at the annual meeting of the Members.
- Section 4.9.2: Supervise all officers, agents and employees of this Association, and to see that their duties are property performed.
- Section 4.9.3: Fix the amount of the Assessments, and increase the Assessments when deemed necessary by a majority vote of the Members, as is provided in the Declaration, send written notice of each Assessment to every Member, collect any unpaid Assessments from the Owner owing the Assessment, enforce the lien against any Lot for which the Assessment is unpaid and is overdue.
- Section 4.9.4: Enforce the provisions of the Declaration; provided, however, that nothing herein shall be construed as prohibiting an individual Lot Owner from pursuing whatever individual independent enforcement actions that may be available to such Lot Owner.

ARTICLE 5 OFFICERS AND THEIR DUTIES

- <u>Section 5.1:</u> Enumeration of Officers. The Officers of the Association shall be a President, Secretary and Treasurer plus other offers as the Board may from time to time by resolution create. Unless other vise prohibited by law, officers may also serve as Directors.
- Section 5.2: Election of Officers. The election of Officers shall take place at the first meeting of the Board held after each annual meeting of the Members.
- Section 5.3: Term. The officers of this Association shall be elected annually by the Board and each shall hold office for one (1) year unless the officer shall resign, is removed from office, or

otherwise is disqualified to serve as officer.

Section 5.4: Resignation and Removal. Any officer may be removed from office, with or without cause, by the Board. Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Board, the President or Secretary. Such resignation shall take effect on the date of receipt of such notice or at any later time specified therein, and unless otherwise specified therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make the resignation effective.

Section 5.5: Vacancies. A vacancy in any office may be filed by appointment of the Board. The officer appointed to such vacancy shall serve for the remainder of the term of the officer he or she replaces.

Section 5.6: Duties. The duties of the Officers are as follows:

Section 5.6.1: President. The President shall preside at all meetings of the Board, shall see that orders and resolutions of the Board are carried out, shall sign all approved leases, mortgages, deeds and other written instruments and perform such other duties as may be required by the Board.

Section 5.6.2: Vice-President. The Vice-President shall act in the place and stead of the President in the event of the President's absence, inability or refusal to act, and shall exercise and perform such other duties as may be required by the Board.

Section 5.6.3: Secretary. The Secretary shall record the votes and keep the minutes of meetings and proceedings of the Board and meetings of the Members, serve notice of meetings of the Board and of the Members, keep appropriate current records showing the Members together with their addresses, and shall perform such other duties as may be required by the Board.

Section 5.6.4: Treasurer. The Treasurer shall receive and deposit in appropriate bank accounts all monies of the Association and shall disburse such funds as directed by resolution of the Board, keep proper books of account, and perform other duties as may be required by the Board.

ARTICLE 6 ASSESSMENTS

Each Member/Owner is obligated to pay an Assessment, as provided by the Declaration. The regular annual assessment is fixed by the Declaration at \$50.00 per Lot. The Association may use the Assessments it collects in order to fund performance by the Association of its duties and purposes, as provided in the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, and the Declaration.

ARTICLE 7 AMENDMENTS

These Bylaws may be amended by the affirmative vote of 50 percent (50%) of the Members voting, in person or by proxy, upon the issue of the amendment at a meeting of the Members

called for the purpose of voting upon the amendment. An amendment to these Bylaws shall not constitute an amendment to the Articles of Incorporation or the Declaration. In case of any conflict between the Articles of Incorporation and these Bylaws, the Articles of Incorporation shall prevail, and in the ease of any conflict between the Declaration and these Bylaws, the Declaration shall prevail.

ARTICLE 8 FISCAL YEAR

The fiscal year of the Association shah begin on the first day of January and end on the thirty-first (31) day of December of every year, except that the first fiscal year shall begin on the date of the incorporation.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we being all Directors of Sugarloaf Mountain Owner's Association, Inc. have adopted these Bylaws as of May 14, 1998.

Henry D. Wellborn, Director